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PLANNING SCHEME AMENDMENT C261

HERITAGE PROTECTION FOR 17-19 ETHEL STREET, MALVERN

AND 3 & 5 AVONDALE ROAD, ARMADALE
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

What place is identified for Heritage Protection?

Amendment C261 proposes to apply the Heritage
Overlay to the following places:

=  17-19 Ethel Street, Malvern (HO594)
= 3 & 5 Avondale Road, Armadale (HO595)

What is the Heritage Overlay?

The Heritage Overlay is a planning tool, which is
applied to properties with demaonstrated local and/ ar
state heritage significance. The Heritage Overlay
proposes to conserve heritage places of significance
and ensure that future development does not
adversely affect their significance.

Once a Heritage Overlay has been applied, a
planning permit is typically required to subdivide,
demolish, alter or add to existing heritage places
(including external alterations, fences, signs, and
outbuildings) and construction of new buildings
(including outbuildings and fences).

Unless specified, a planning permit is generally not
required for internal alterations, external painting,
maintenance and the removal of vegetation. Please
refer to Clause 43.01 Heritage Overlay in the
Stonnington Planning Scheme that contains a full list
of requirements for properties in a Heritage Overlay.

Why has this place been identified for inclusion
in the Heritage Overlay?

In December 2006, Council adopted a Heritage
Strategy Action Plan, which provides a framework for
assessing new places and reviewing existing places
and heritage citations.

The current stage of the Action Plan is the
assessment of new individual places not currently
included within the Heritage Overlay. It is intended to
progressively seek heritage controls for all A1
graded buildings in the Municipality and those A2
graded buildings meeting or exceeding the threshold
of local significance.

The heritage citation prepared in support of
Amendment C261 has identified the Victorian places
as being of local individual heritage significance and
given an A2 grading.

X
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Buildings graded A2 are of high local significance
(i.e. of particular importance to a local community or
part of a community, which is usually defined by a
local government area).

What is a citation?

A citation is a report by a qualified heritage expert on
the heritage significance of a place or precinct.

A citation has been prepared for 17-19 Ethel Street,
Malvern and 3 & 5 Avondale Road, Armadale which
includes the following:

» The history of the place.

» A comparative analysis to substantiate the
significance of the place.

= A statement of significance using the three-part
format of ‘What is significant?”; ‘How is it
significant?” and "‘Why is it significant?’.

= Level of significance and a hernitage grading.

AMENDMENT PROCESS
What is the process for this Amendment?

Council is exhibiting this Amendment from 7
September to 9 October 2017. Written submissions
are due by 9 October 2017. Following this an
independent Panel will be appointed to consider any
submissions, as required.

If you make a submission, you will be advised of the
timing and next steps. Council will then consider the
Panel's recommendations and make a decision on
how to proceed.

How do | make a submission?

You may make a submission in writing (typed or
clearly written) to Council. The submission should
clearly state the submitter's name and contact
details, including email if possible as well as a
contact address, the grounds on which the
Amendment is supported or opposed, and indicate
what changes (if any) you wish to suggest.

Address your submission to the Council by either:
= strategicplanning@stonnington.vic.gov.au;
or
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* City of Stonnington
PO Box 21
PRAHRAN VIC 3181

Where can | receive more information?

The Amendment documents and information will be
avallable to view from 6 September 2017:

= Council's website:
www.stonnington.vic.gov.au/Vision/Strategic
-Planning/Planning-Scheme-Amendments

= Department of Environment, Land, Water and
Planning website:
www.delwp.vic.gov.au/public-inspection

= atthe Planning Counter:
Stonnington City Centre, 311 Glenferrie Road,
Malvern 3144

If you have any queries please call Strategic
Planning on 8290 1395.

Figure 1 17-19 Ethel Streel, Malvern

=

Figure 2 Villas 3 (left) and 5 (right) Avondre Road
Armadale

Service Centres

Road, M

STONNINGTON.VIC.GOV.AU
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Waldaira’
17-19 Ethel Street, Malvern
Place type: Residential Bulding (private), Mansion

Significance level: Local

Recommended protection: Planning Scheme

Architectural style: Victorian Period (1851-1901) Queen Anne Revival

Locality history

Malvern was originally named Gardiner after the early settler John Gardiner, but was renamed
Malvern after the property Malvern Hills Estate’, which had in turn been named for its
percerved likeness to the Malvern Hills in Hertfordshire, England. This was pleasant, rolling
country on the southern bank of the Gardiners Creek, or Kegyong Koot, which was its Aboriginal
name. Many praised the picturesque character of the area m the early settlement period
(Strahan 1989: 1-3). Journalist William Kelly wrote i 1858 of “the one-time undulating
stretches of green bushland of Malvern’ (Art Portfolio Ltd 1911). Early settlers made use of a
fresh water spring in High Street that inspired the namung of the Spring Gardens; i the 1880s
this local water supply was encased in a rustic rockery and became an ornamental feature of the
public gardens.

Like Prahran, Malvern was the name of a municipality as well as a suburb. The Shire of
Malvern was established in 1876 from the earlier Gardiner Road District. In the 1870s the
higher areas were taken up for gentlemen’s estates, while small farmers, market gardeners and
orchardists occupied the lower land near the Creek.

The railway attracted new settlers to the area and land was subdivided at a great rate through
the boom vears of the 1880s and early 1890s. Large areas of open paddocks and market
gardens were rapidly transformed into pleasantly sited homes and gardens. Malvern in the
1880s epitormused the ideal suburh, providing a pleasant refuge for the affluent middle class,
away from the bustle and noise of the city,

CONTEXT 1
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From its foundation Malvern was regarded as solidly respectable. This was reflected by a
consistency in good quality homes, ranging from Victorian to interwar styles. The famed
Gascoigne and Waverley estates, developed from 1885, were some of the most celebrated
subdivisions n the area. Housing was mostly detached and it was one of a group of new
suburbs with a higher rate of home ownership compared to the older inner areas of Melbourne
(Davison 1978: 181). Malvern was comfortably and solidly middle class. While there were
several large mansions dating from the 1870s and 1880s, the suburb generally lacked the
excessive wealth and flamboyance of Toorak. The north-west corner of Malvern, however, was
comparable with Toorak in terms of elevation and grand homes. Here, on the east side of
Glenferrie Road, John Wagner of Cobb & Co. erected the mansion ‘Stonington’ (1890). A
short distance away was another mansion, Moorakyne’ (1889). In 1901 ‘Stomngton’ became
the official residence of the Governor of Victoria, after the newly appointed Governos-
General took up residency i Melbourne’s existing Government House in the Domain. This
gave Malvern an added cachet of importance, and its residents valued proximity to wealth and
mfluence.

Malvern was almost entirely residential, with major shopping strips established on Malvern
Road and Glenferrie Road. There was barely any industry, though in 1879 there was a
ropeworks and a tile factory (Whitworth 1879: 305). There was also a brickworks and clay pits
near the corner of Elizabeth Street and Henderson Avenue. The population of Malvern was
largely conservative and had a high rate of church attendance (McCalman 1995 7).

Malvern’s rapid rate of growth led to the Shire being replaced by the City of Malvern m 1911.
The Prahran and Malvern Tramways Trust had been established in Malvern the year before.
Large estates continued to be subdivided in the early 1900s, and many streets in Malvern are
lined with Edwardian-era houses.

Place history

Crown Portion 234, consisting of 96 acres 3 roods, was purchased by Matthew Neave in 1849,
In 1852 Neave subdivided the land into 32 lots of various sizes. In 1890 Ethel Street was
created i a subdivision of the Tooronga Station Estate, situated close to the Tooronga
Railway Station. This resulted in a number of substantial villas being built in Elizabeth Street
and Ethel Street, all within easy access of the railway line.
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Figure 1. Detasl fmm Pian of Tooronga Station Estare, showing lots 61 and 62 in Etbel Street, [nd ] e 789-2 (SL1/)

James Urquhart purchased lots 61 and 62 of the Tooronga Station Estate in 1891, although the
land was held in the name of Urquhart’s wife, Mary Alice Graham Urquhart (C/T Vol. 2398,
Fol 535). Urquhart had immugrated from Forres, Scotland. He was an accountant with the
Melbourne firm of Urquhart & Mclntosh, which had offices in the St James Buildings, William
Street (Lewis Aitken 1992: 117).

At the end of 1891, architect Charles Douglas Figgis called for tenders to build a ‘Brick villa
residence At Malvern, for James Urquhart, Esquure’ (Asgus, 20 November 1891, p. 2). The
double-storey residence at No. 17 Ethel Street was completed the following vear (Lewis Aitken
1992: 117). The Malvern Hentage Study (Lew:s Aitken 1992) records the hiouse name as

CONTEXT
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“Waldaira’ It may have been named after the homestead by that same name in south-west New
South Wales, on the Murrumbidgee River.

Figure 2. Sketch identifiing land (in red) in Ethel 5treet purchased by James Urgubart in 1891 (C/T Fol, 2398, 176/,
535)

Irish-born arclutect Charles Douglas Figeis (1849-1893) practised in Ballarat and 1
Melbourne, where he had rooms at the Victorian Building in Swanston Street. Some of lus
best-known buildings in Ballarat are the Mining Exchange (1887), the Ballarat Club (1888),
and the Scots’ Presbyterian Church, and elsewhere, the Geelong Club (1888}, the Presbyterian
Church in Lyttleton Street, Castlemaine (1894), and St Andrew’s Uniting Church, Coleraine
(1892). Many of his works in Ballarat and country Victoria were public buildings and church
buildings, but a surviving coloured sketch, showing the elevation of proposed villas at Malvern
(c.1880-1890), links hum to residential work i that suburb (see below).

Figure 3. Charles Douglas Figeie, Elevation of Proposed 1illas, Malvern’, ¢.7880-1890, Pictures Collection, State
Library of Victoria

The MMBW Plan of 1907 shows a large villa residence with a return verandah to the south-
east. The house occupies a large block, taking up the equivalent land of two regular house
blocks in the street. The house is plumbed, with an inside lavatory and bath. There is an

outside washhouse building, situated on the rear boundary, which imncludes a lavatory, a copper
and a trough (MMBW 1907).

CONTEXT 3
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Figure 4. Exctract from MMBW detail plan wo 1777, dated 1907, Town of Malvern (SL17)

The house was prominently sited on a steep hill on the west (uphill) side of Ethel Street. On
the east, the land sloped steeply down to the railway Line and Gardiners Creek. The house
would have had 2 fine view across the Gardiners Creek valley to the distant hills beyond. The
block had room for an extensive garden at the front and south of the house, and several
mature specimen trees remain, including several Pines, an Oak and a Eucalypt.

James Urquhart and his wife Mary Alice Graham née Ross occupied the house for 54 years
(Lewis Aitken 1992 James Urquhart died at home in February 1943 and was buried in the
Kew Cemetery (Age, 24 February 1943, p. 6). A few months later, the grand home at 17 Ethel
Street, described as a two-storey brick residence of 9 rooms, sold 1 1943 for the sum of £1850
(Age, 13 April 1943, p. 4). The sales notice advertised a ‘large two story [sic] house with surplus
furmishings” (Argas, 20 March 1943, p. 14).

Subsequent owners included Sidney Bond Seymour (1943) and Doug Graham (1952-59)
(Lewss Auatken 1992: 117).

Figure 5. 17 thel Street, photographed in 1992 in Lewis Aitken, Malvern Heritage Study (MP 12941 SHC)
Sources

‘17 Ethel Street, Malvern’, MP 12941, Stonmngton History Centre.

Apge, 24 February 1943, p. 6.

Age, 13 April 1943, p. 4.

Argus, 20 November 1891, p. 2.

CONTEXT
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Argies, 20 March 1943, p. 14

Art Portfolio Ltd 1911, Ciry of Malvern 1llustrared.
Certificate of Title, Vol. 2398, Fol. 535.
Certificate of Title, Vol 6617, Fol 214

City of Malvern. Rate Books.

Davison, Graeme 1978, The Rise and Fall of Marvellous Melbourne, Melbourne University Press,
Carlton

Figgis, CD. ‘Elevation of Proposed Villas at Malvern’. Pictures Collection, State Library of
Victoria.

Lewis, Miles. Australian Architecture Index.

McCalman, Janet 1993, Journeyings: The biography of a meiddle-class generation, Melbourne University
Press, Carlton.

MMBW Detail Plan No. 1777, Town of Malvern, dated 1907, State Library of Victoria (SLV).

Nigel Lewis Richard Aitken Pty Ltd 1992, “City of Malvern Heritage Study’, prepared for the
City of Malvern,

Plan of subdivision, ‘Tooronga Station Estate’ ¢.1890, State Library of Victorna (SLV).

Strahan, Lynne 1989, Pubiic and Private Menory: A bistory of the City of Malvern, Hargreen
Publishing and the City of Malvern.

Tibbits, George ‘An Emanation of Lunacy’ in Howells, Trevor & Nicholson, Michael 1989,
Towards the Dawn: Federation Architecture in Anstralia 1890-7915, Hale & Iremonger.

Whitworth, Robert P. 1879, Bailliere's 1ictorian Gagetteer and Road Guide, Baillieres, Melbourne.

Physical description

Waldaira’ comprises a large double block on the west side of the street. The large residence is
set on the rear half of the block, leaving an expansive front lawn which slopes up to the house.
All four sides of the block are lined with mature deciduous trees, contributing to the park-like
atmosphere. There is a high masonry wall at the front of the property, which is not original,
but the house is still visible from the street thanks to its double-storey height and the rise in the
land.

The house 1s an imposing two-storey mansion of face red brickwork with cast-cement
ornament around window and door openings. The slate roof has decorative bands of scalloped
slates, and terracotta ridgecapping and ram’s horn finials. Chimneys are also of red face brick
with corbelling at the tops and vertical bands

The dwelling 1s massed in a highly picturesque manner, with three main volumes forming the
front facade. There is an entrance tower at the centre, with a low pyramidal roof set atop
closely spaced brackets and a band of diaper patterning carried out in burnt headess, giving it a
medieval character. To the right of the tower is a slightly recessed wing with a steep pyramidal
roof, and to the left 15 a wing that sits eatirely behind the tower and a return verandah, with a
transverse-ridged hipped roof of a lower pitch.

The verandah is single-storey, with a balustrade to the first-floor level. The ground-floor level
has details that would become popular in the Federation era, including turned umber posts
with timber fretwork. Here the frieze 1s in a Chinoise manner, with intersecting vertical and
horizontal sticks. It 1s highly detailed with fleur-de-lys and club ternunations to the short
vertical members. Below the frieze are two types of timber brackets: scrolled where the
verandah meets the wall, and long, shaped struts to the posts with an additional scroll in the
triangular openings.

CONTEXT 5
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Figure 6. Detail |£_Ff the verandah and balustrade. (Sosrce: Cantext, 2017)

The cast-cement ornament to the openings is classically inspired. It is concentrated on the
entrance tower and the pyramidal-roofed wing to the night-hand (north) side. Windows to the
left-hand wing behind the verandah have long rectangular windows with flat brick arches. All
windows of the fagade are timber double-hung sash windows.

The front entry is via a segmentally arched opening at the base of the tower. The spandrels are
decorated with bas-relief foliage (possibly laurel or eucalyptus leaves). At the centre of the arch
15 a laige, scrolled keystone, and above 1s a dentilated cornice. Set at the back of the tower 1s
the front door, which has heavy bolection mouldings to its panels. The same dentilation 1s seen
on a bay window at the ground floor to the nght-hand side. The pair of windows above it has
an engage column between them and a scrolled apron below. Simular scrollwork is used above
the bay windows below. The first-floor window of the tower has a projecting semi-circular
base, like that of an oriel window. At the top is a frieze 1 the form of metopes (with impressed
vertical lines), and atop the narrow cornice (which 1s continuous with a stringcourse) are small
cast-cement Greek Revival decorations (an anthemion, scrolled consoles, and antefixes).

CONTEXT
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Figure 7. Classically inspired cast-cemient surrounds to the window and door openings. (Sonrce: Contexct, 2077)

The classical ornament, medieval massing, and Chinese-mspired verandah form an eclectic but
successful composition, that might be considered past of the early, experimental development
of the Queen Anne Revival style before it solidified into the typical red brick and tile villas with
a dominating roof extending over the sheltering verandah which became so popular in the
early twentieth century.

he house was described 1n the City of Malvern Hertage Study {1992) as ‘relatively intact apart
from the apparent removal of the verandah roof on the upper level” (emphasis added). Insofar
as it 1s possible to see from the black & white photo 1n that document, no changes to the front
facade of the house have been made since then, though some trees have been removed from
the front lawn smce then.

Comparison between the MMBW plan of 1907 and current aerial photos mdicate that a rear
extension has been constructed, behind the oniginal extent of the house, but 1t 15 not visible
from the street. There has also been a coating (paint or cement wash) applied at some point to
the brickwork, which has mostly weathered away
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Comparative analysis

Victoria’s economic crash of the eatly 1890s creates an obvious boundary between the excesses
of the ornate ‘Boom-style’ architecture, characterised by exuberant cement-coated facades and
cast-iron detail which draw upon classical forms, and the simpler Federation-era houses with
their more natural palette of face brick and timber fretwork influenced by the Arts & Crafts
movement. In fact, some architects had already been expenimenting with this materials palette
and new forms of massing in the late 1880s.

The residental style known i Australia as Queen Anne Revival was dominant by the turn of
the century, and formed the builder’s vernacular by 1915. The origins of the Queen Anne
Revival style, in its more traditional form as well as its transformation into the recognisably
Australian Federation villa, were English Domestic Revival designs by English architects
Richard Norman Shaw and William Eden Nesfield. They drew their inspiration from
traditional English rural buildings and Tudor architecture (Tibbits 1989:52).

The first Queen Anne Revival houses in Australia, dating from the late 1880s to mid-1890s,
were mostly architect designed and show a more direct British nfluence as well as a greater
stylistic eclecticism than the Federation Queen Anne houses that filled Melbourne’s suburbs
after 1900. These houses often had a pronounced vertical massing and gabled roofs, showing a
strong medieval influence. This contrasts with later sprawling Federation bungalows with
hipped roofs extending over encircling verandahs. Apart from medieval (mainly Gothic and
Tudor) influences, architects of tlus period drew upon styles as diverse as Romanesque (with
muscular round arches and banded voussoirs), Scottish Baronial (with its pointed towers and
crow-stepped parapets), Anglo-Dutch (with curvilinear gable parapets), Art Nouveau (with its
siuous ornament), and Japanese design (with overlapping line patterns of verandah fretwork).
A correct, acadcnuc use of historical forms was rare, instead they were emploved and
combined to suit the architect’s fancy in 2 manner often referred to as ‘Free Style’.

One of the biggest changes from Victonan Italianate to Queen Anne houses was i the form
of the roof and verandah. The low-line M-profile hipped roof was supplanted by high gabled
and hipped roofs with complex forms, turrets and gablets at the top. Tall chimneys of
corbelled red brick, often with roughcast detail, were another distingwishing feature. Eventually
the separate verandah structure, set below the eaves, was replaced by an unbroken rooflme that
swooped down to mcorporate the verandah. Another transition seen in the late 1880s and
1890s was i cladding materials, moving from brown Hawthorn and cream brickwork to
simpler red face brick with render bands, and from slate roofs to terracotta Marseille tiles with
decorative ridgecapping and finials. Red brick combined with lighter bands, of cream brick or
smooth render, is referred to colloquially as ‘blood and bandages”. Howells (1989:16) believes
this wall treatment was denved from the polychromy of English Gotluc Revival arclutects.

The early Queen Anne houses made use of decorative window treatments such as margin
glazing and tiny square panes of coloured glass for highlight windows. By about 1900 this was
supplanted by curvilinear Art Nouveau leadlight patterns.

Examples of these early Federation houses of the late 1880s and 1890s graded Significant in
the Stonnington Heritage Overlay can be divided into several groups according to size and
stylistic advancement. The largest are mansions such as ‘Redeourt’ at 506 Orrong Road,
Armadale (HO166), 6 Maviield Avenue, Malvern (HO275), ‘Edzell’ at 76 St Georges Road,
Toorak (VHR H691), and Tllawarra’ at 1 Illawarra Court, Toorak (VHR H701).

The greatest number are large houses, some on tighter inner-suburban blocks and others on
sprawling sites whese the building could be designed ‘in the round’. Significant examples
include the duplex at 3 & 5 Mercer Road, Armadale (HO327), 15 Avondale Road, Armadale
(in HO123), 190-192 Wattletree Road, Malvern (in HO156), 10 Manning Road, Malvern (in
HO133), 92 Finch Street, Malvern East (mn HO133), 3 Forster Avenue, Malvern East
(HO260), 15 Forster Avenue, Malvern East (HO310), 33, 45 & 49 Grandview Grove, Prahran
(in HO135), 59 Kensington Road, South Yarra (HO64), 280 Domain Road, South Yarra (in
HO122), 18 & 20 Hawksburn Road, South Yarra (in HO137), and 70 Clendon Road, Toorak
(in HO143).
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Finally, there are the modest sigle-storey villas that exhibit the transition from the Victorian
Ttalianate to Edwardian Queen Anne. Often they still have an Italianate M-profile hipped roof,
and cast-iron verandah detail, but with a gabled projecting bay to the facade instead of the
hipped bay seen on Italianate houses and always with the newly fashionable red face brick.
Significant examples of this type mclude 103 Koovong Road, Armadale (n HO130), 12-16
Mercer Road, Armadale (HO328-330), and 38 Gladstone Street, Windsor (in HO134).

‘Waldaira’ 15 one of the large Queen Anne houses and villas, and is part of the first wave of
them to be bult. In its use of red facebrick with cement render dressings and cast decoration,
‘Waldaira’ can be compared to large houses such as 92 Finch Street (c1890), 6 Mavfield Avenue
(1891}, 33 Grandview Grove (c1895}, and 59 Kensington Road (1884). The juxtaposition of
picturesque medieval massing with classical-denived ornament at 33 Grandview Grove is
comparable to that of “Waldaira’. The Clunese-inspired ladder-back verandah fretwork can be
compared to the somewhat simpler example at 15 Avondale Road.

XY

Figure 8. 33 Grandview Grove, Prahran of 1895 (Siznificant in HO135). (Source: WalkingMelbonrne.com)

‘Waldaira’ stands out from all these examples, however, 1n its unusual massing. While the
facades of the others are domunated by features gables (often half-timbered or with decorative
timber trusses), the roof of “‘Waldaira’ :s composed of three hipped forms, each with a different
size and slope, suggesting early French Renaissance town houses. “Waldaira” does share this
apparent influence with Redd, Henderson & Smart’s ‘Bona Vista” of 1884, which is
distinguished by a corner tower with conical roof suggesting a French Renaissance influence,
as well as a steep gable marking the entrance.

CONTEXT ?
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Figire 9. 59 Kensington Road, South Yarra, designed in 1884 by Reed, Henderson & Smart (HO64 ). (Sonrce:
RealEstate.com)

Another comparison of mterest 1s with the only other residential design by Figgis to be
identified: “Wando Dale’ homestead in Nareen of 1891 {Southern Grampians HO307). Built at
virtually the same time as “Waldaira’, it 15 a verv conservatwve design in keepimg with the
Italianate style that so dominated the nineteenth century. A transition to the Queen Anne 1s
seen 10 the laddes-back fretwork of the ground-floor verandah, and the positioning of the front
door at the base of a two-storey canted bay 1s unusual.

Figure 10. 'Wands Dale’ homestead, Nareen, buiit in 1891 to a design by architect Charles D Figgis. Southern
Grangpians HO507. (Source: John Collins Collection, State Library of Victoria)

10

CONTEXT
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In conclusion, “Waldaira’ is a fine example of a substantial late nineteenth-century house which
demonstrates the eclectic design approach of early Queen Anne residential design. It is
particularly distinguished within the City of Stonnington by its unusual massing of roof forms.
The detailing of the cast-cement ornament to window and door openings is of notably high
quality.

Thematic context

Thus place illustrates the following themes, as identified in the Stownington Thematic Environmental
History (Context Pty Ltd, rev. 2009):

8.2.1 'Conntry in the city’ - Suburban development in Malvern before W1
8.3.2 Gardens

8.4.1 Houses as a symbol of weaith, status and fashion

Assessment against criteria

Assessment of this place was carried out in relation to the HERCON model criteria as set out
mn the VPP Practice Note ‘Applying the Heritage Overlay” (2015)

Statement of significance

What is significant?

Waldaira’, at 17-19 Ethel Street, Malvern, 1s significant. Tlus substantial Queen Anne residence
was built in 1891-92 for accountant James Urquhart and fanuly. The designer was Inish-born
architect Charles Douglas Figgis (1849-95), who practised mn Ballarat and Melbourne.

The two-storey brick house stands on its original double allotment behind a large front garden
which retains a number of mature specimen trees.

The high brick front fence and the rear addition are not significant.

How is it significant?
‘Waldaira’ 1s of local architectural and aesthetic significance to the City of Stonnington

Why is it significant?

Waldaira’ 1s architecturally significant as a very fine example of a substantial early Queen Anne
residence, with eclectic stylistic influences often seen 1n early examples of this style.
Characteristic elements of the style demonstrated by Waldaira” include the use of red facebrick
with contrasting cement-render dressings and ornament, picturesque massing, and mtricate
timber fretwork to the verandah. It retains original features including a slate-clad roof with
terracotta finals, corbelled brick clumneys, and diaper-patterned buckwork at the top of the
entrance tower. (Criterion D)

“Waldaira’ is aesthetically significant for its unusual and sophisticated design which justaposes
three hipped roof forms with steep slopes, suggesting a French Renaissance influence, as does
the use of hugh-quality classical entablatures, engaged columns and reliefs. The use of an
entrance tower at the centre of the facade 1s stuking. The verandah fretwork 1s 2 more complex
version of the ladder-back friezes that were to become common. The presentation of
“Waldaira’ 1s enhanced by 1ts elevated siting behind a large garden on a double-width block.
(Criterion E)

Recommendations

Recommended for mclusion in the Heritage Overlay to the extent of the whole property as
defined by the title boundaries.

KT 11
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HO Schedule controls: None
Recommended grading: A2

CONTEXT
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.

3 (“The Briars’) & 5 Avondale Road, Armadale

Place type: Res:dent:al Buildings (private), Villas, Stables

Signuficance level: Local

Stables at 3 Avondaie Road, viewed from Hampden Road.

CONTEXT 1
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Recommended protection: Planning Scheme

Architectural style: Victorian Period (1851-1901) Italianate

Locality history

The locality of Armadale emerged in the 1870s at the eastern end of Toorak. The suburb
straddled both the older municipality of Prahran and the newer one of Malvern, with Boundary
Road (now Koovong Road) marking the boundary between the two. The name Armadale
der:ved from the name of the grand residence of Victorian politician James Munro, ‘Armadale
House’, built in 1876. Other mansions and fine villas followed, mcluding ‘Brocklesby’ (1879)
and ‘Flete’ (1882-83). Along Orrong Road, between High Street and Dandenong Road, an
impressive row of five mansions was built for some of Melbourne’s leading businessmen m the
1880s. These were ‘Larnook’, ‘Redeourt’, ‘Sebrof’, ‘Lalbert’ and ‘Kabratook” (demolished)
(Foster 1996).

Through the 1880s, Armadale was promoted as an exclusive residential area for the middle
class, with subdivisions offering generous suburban allotments. A railway station had opened at
Armadale in 1879 to service the new Oakleigh railway hine and this was used as a drawcard to
attract buyers to the area. Much of Armadale’s housing stock reflects its foundational perrod of
the 1880s and early 1890s. As well as the large ornate homes of the wealthy, there were streets
of comfortable middle-class suburban homes, including double-storey terrace rows, along with
pockets of smaller, more modest homes, including some working-class cottages.

Commercial development along High Street, including shops and other services, served the
surrounding residential area. The Prahran and Malvern Tramways Board established a tram
route along High Street to the city in the early 1900s. In the 1930s and 1940s, as more and
more of the large homes in the area were broken up and the land subdivided, antique furniture
was 1n oversupply. In the 1940s the shops in High Street began to carry antiques and obyels d'ard,
catering for an upper-middle-class clientele, and laving the foundation for what later became a
hugh-end shopping stup.

From the eatly twentieth century, many of Melbourne’s large mansion homes set in large
garden settings became unsustainable. Large estates were subdivided for residential
development, and sometimes the house survived on a much reduced allotment. Large private
homes were also converted into multiple dwellings or ‘flats’, or operated as boarding houses.
Large houses were also converted for use as private hospitals (for example ‘Alencon’) and
schools (for example, ‘Brocklesby’ and ‘Blairholme’).

Place history

From the early 1850s this land was part of a larger area defined as Crown Allotment 52 in the
Parish of Prahran. The area was sparsely settled in the 1850s, according to the plan of
Melbourne by James Kearney (Kearney 1855). In ¢.1881, much of the land in the immediate
vicinity of the subject properties was subdivided, but the north side of Avondale Road
(including the site of 3 and 5 Avondale Road) formed pait of the south-western corner of the
large estate of a Mr Borthwick. Opposite the site of 3 and 5 Avondale Road, and backing on to
Hampden Road, was the large estate of local politician Robert Dyce Reid (Plan of subdivision
of Parts of Crown portions 52 and 51, City of Prahran at Armadale, ¢ 1881, SLV). The
neighbouring allotments in Hampden, Avondale and Denbigh roads that were offered for sale
in 1881 were described as being ‘in close proximity to some of the noblest residences in the
colony’ (Argis, 2 September 1881, p. 2).
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Figure 1. Plan of subdivision of Parts of Crown portions 52 and 571, City of Prabran at Armadale, «.1887, SL1”

The dwellings at numbers 3 and 5 Avondale Road, Armadale, were built by 1890. In 1889 the
properties were rated as vacant blocks, but in November 1890 there was a 7-roomed brick
dwelling on each block, both owned by the Mercantile Bank. The occupants were Jane
Clements (No. 3) and Henry Langlands, engineer (No. 5) (RB 1889, 1890, City of Prahran). A
tender notice i May 1890 for “labor [sic.], brick lavers and scaffolding’ at the corner of
Hampden Street and Avondale Road may relate to the construction of the two houses that
vear (Age, 1 May 1890, p. 8). The identity of the advertiser is not provided. In June 1891, a
notice appeared that water pipes for the Melbourne water supply were shortly to be laid in
Avondale Road, Armadale, between Hampden Road and Aubum Grove (Age, 23 June 1891, p.
8).

The houses were buult as a pair of matching detached villas. Both dwellings shared the same
footprint, with a projecting bay, front verandah, chimney design and placement, and similar
ornamentation. No. 3 Avondale Road occupies a large corner block. While it appears that there
was sufficient room for this block to accommodate two house allotments, it was not
subdivided for this purpose, thus providing room for a large garden and grounds. A large
Liquidamber (Liguidamber styracifiua) in the front garden may be part of the early garden
plantings.

In 1892 the pair of brick houses, of 7 rooms each, remamned in the ownership of the Mercantile
Bank, with occupants being Sidney Innes, accountant (No. 3) and Alexander H. Chomley (No.
3) (RB 1892, City of Prahran). Sidney Innes continued to occupy the house at No. 3 in 1898.
That year, a death notice appeared for Ada Marian Innes, wife of S. Evelyn Innes, of 3
Avondale Road, Armadale (Argus, 13 January 1898, p. 1),

In 1900, the rate books list Samuel Bloomfield as the owner of 3 Avondale Road (with
Thomas William Clark as occupant) as well as the adjacent vacant block, and the Mercantile
Bank Assets Company as the owner of 5 Avondale Road, with Helen Gowan as occupant (RB

1900).

The MMBW Detail Plan of 1900 shows the two wvillas, with No. 3 occupying the larger
(double) corner block. Both houses have a central front pathway with steps that lead to the
front verandah. Both houses are shown with a rear yard and a detached washhouse with
lavatory. The curve of the boundary fence of No. 3 Avondale Road, where it joins Hampden
Road, follows the curve of Hampden Road to the south. (MMBW 1900).
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Figure 2. MMBW Detail Plan No. 996, dated 1900 (Source: State Library of Victoria)

The house at 3 Avondale Road was advertised for sale in 1903, when it was described as a well
bult and compact brick villa known as “The Briars’, situated at the corner of Hampden Road.
It contained ‘Drawing and Dining Rooms, Maids Room, Bath, Pantry, Laundry, with Stone
Foundations, Slate Roof, Tiled Verandal’ (Aroxs, 2 December 1903, p. 2)
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Figure 3. Sale notice, 3 Avondale Road, Armadale, 7903 (Source: Argus, 3 Decemsber 1903, p. 2)

James Simpson Green Wight (1866-1947) and his wife Isobel Jean moved to the house at 3
Avondale Road in 1904 from a previous residence in Toorak (Miles Lewss Index; Prabran
Mechanics Lnstifure Newsletter, No. 38, Aprl 2003, p. 5 — claims 1905). Wiight had marned Isabel
Jean McConvill in 1900 and they had three children (PMI Newsiester 2005). In 1909, a son was
born to James and Isobel Jean Wiight at 3 Avondale Road; the birth notice gives the address as
‘The Briars® (Prabran Telegraph, 10 July 1909, p. 1). By 1905-06, Wiight had erected double-

storey brick stables at the rear of the north-west corner of the block (City of Prahran RB 1905-
06).

CONTEXT
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James S.G. Wnght, who had emigrated from Scotland, became a leading Melbourne builder
and contractor, with offices in the city: in Market Street and later at 421 Collins Street. Wright
was promunent in the early decades of the twentieth century, a period that saw considerable
development in the industrial sector. He was president of the Master Builders Association in
1906-07 during the period of a long, drawn-out building dispute (Age, 22 December 1906, p.
14).

Wiight won contracts to construct a number of factories and warehouses in Melbourne in the
early decades of the twentieth century, with many mcorporating concrete construction
techniques. Many were large modern complexes, erected for some of Melbourne’s leading
manufacturers. Notable works included a warehouse for Goldsborough, Row and Co.
Kensington in 1906 (Melbourne HO1162); new premises for Johns and Waygood, 408-430
City Road, South Melbourne in 1909 (Port Phillip HO4; ‘City of Port Phillip Heritage
Review’,2017, p. 3); and the Commonwealth Aircraft Corporation Factory at Fishermans Bend,
Port Melbourne, 11 1940, which was contracted to J.5.G. Wight and Co. (Miles Lewss Index,
ref 63358). He also built the Prahran Technical Art School, 140 High Street, Windsor, in 1915
(Stonnmmgton HO53) (PMI Newsletter 2005, p. 3).

Wright was a well-connected businessman with a number of business interests and
investments, including his role as a director of at least two ‘no liability’ mining companies. In
1909, he was listed as a director of the Mia Mia Gold Mining Co., a small company based in
Redesdale, with architect Percy Oakden as a fellow director (Iictorian Government Gagette, 22
January 1909, p. 2830), and m 1935 he was a director of the New England Tin Mines Co. Ltd
(Daily Commercial News and Shipping List, 29 August 1935, p. 4). In 1920, he was a foundmg
director of the public company, National Portland Cement Ltd; fellow directors mcluded
prominent Melbourne businessmen Sir John Monash and BHP Director A E. Bowes Kelly
(Tabie Talk, 2 September 1920, p. 25). He held at least one other property in 1924-25, when he
was rated as the owner of a house in Caulfield (City of Caulfield rate books, accessed via
Ancestry.com).

James Wright died in 1947 and his Probate papers are held by the Public Record Office
Victoria. These would provide full details of hus assets at the time of death, and a description
of the house. His widow Isobel Jean Wright died i 1930.

In 1949, an advertisement appeared in the “Wanted to Rent’ column in the Age for: ‘Garage or
space car, via Hampden-rd, Armadale MXY 330 ext 369 (dge, 2 April 1949, p. 11). This may
relate to the property at 3 Avondale Road.

From 1969 to the present day (2017), 3 Avondale Road has been the home of cooking school
The French Kitchen, run by Diane Holigue, who is the author of a cookbook by the same

name published 1n 1983 as well as .4 Lifetime of Cooking, Teaching and Writing from the French
Kirchen (2012).

Under the ownership of Diane and Gerard Holigue, the house at 3 Avondale Road was
enlarged around 1990 with a two-storey rear extension set behind the front three rooms and
designed to be no higher than the original roofline. This extension was enlarged slightly in
2000, and a large garage built along the Hampden Road boundary (Property File).

In 1905-06, No. 5 Avondale Rd was occupied by Helen Gowan and owned by the Mercantile
Bank of Australia. It was rated as an §-roomed brick residences (RB 1905-06). Later owners of
5 Avondale Road include Sophia G. Farrar 1 1921-22 and Bingley A. Bowen in 1925-26 (RB,
1921-22, RB 1925-26).

Sources

Age, 1 May 1890, p. 8.

Age, 23 June 1891, p. 8.

Age, 22 December 1906, p. 14.
Age, 2 April 1949, p. 11,

Ancestry.com
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Physical description

The houses at 3 and 5 Avondale Road were built as two 1dentical Italianate villas. They stand
on the north-east corner of Avondale and Hampden roads, with no. 3 on a double block that
has a long side boundary along Hampden Road.

Both houses sit at a shight elevation above Avondale Road, and their front doors are reached
via two sets of steps. The first set, of three bluestone steps, is just within each front gate, while
each front verandah is reached via another two bluestone steps. No. 3 retains its onigmal curve
masonry walls around the lower set of steps, as well as tessellated tiles to the front path and
verandah floor that appear to be original. Neither house retains its original front fence, though
no. 5 has a sympathetic reproduction iron palisade fence.

The front facade of both house can be described as follows: Each has rendered brick walls and
an asymmetrical facade with a wide canted bay to the left-hand side, and a verandah to nght-
hand side. Both have features typical of the Italianate style, including a low-line M-profile
hipped roof; clad in slates, rendered chimneys with a moulded cornice, pairs of brackets to the
eaves, front verandahs with a convex roof set below the eaves and cast-iron columas and
frieze-brackets, and front door surrounds with sidelight and highlight windows.
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Figure 4. Front fagade of 5 Avondale Road. Note casement box: bay window beneath verandab. (Sonrce: Context, 2017)

The two houses have the following decorative details of note: diaper patterning to the slate
roofs, with bands of semi-hexagonal and diamond-shaped tiles with crimped edges; cast wythes
and brackets to the clumneys; a dog-tooth moulding to the verandah beam and below the
window sill beneath the verandah (no. 3, only}; and fine cast and run cement ornament. This
mcludes vermiculated quoins to corners and as panels below the windows of the projecting
bay, projecting window sills on corbels to the windows of the projecting bay, moulded round-
arches to these same windows with scrolled keystones and impost blocks decorate with
acanthus leaves. The ornament to no. 5 is slightly more elaborate, with twisted colonnettes in
the reveals of the arched front windows.
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Figure 5. Early twentieth-century door and leadiights at 5 Avondale Road. (source: Context, 2017)

The two houses also differ shightly due to a remodelling of no. 5 that took place ¢. 1900-10.
Thus included the replacement of the original six-panel door (which remains at no. 3) with an
Edwardian two-panel door featuring one large and two small Art Nouveau leadlights. The sash

CONTEX 7
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window with sidelights beneath the verandah (which remains at no. 3) was replaced with a
timber box bay window with casements and scalloped weatherboards to the base.

Figure 6. Original front window ar 3 Avondale Road with dogtooth moniding below sill. (Sonrce: Contexct, 2017)

Both houses have large rear additions, which are not visible when viewing from Avondale
Road. The rear addition to no. 3 1s visible from the far side of Hampden Road, and it has a
sheer two-storey wall, but 1s set back behind the original extent of the house and has the same
overall height (though the wall 1s taller). Views to it are blocked, in part by the c2000 double
garage. The garage 1s of rendered masonry and adopts a parapeted gable form from the stable
block.
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Firgure 7. Obligue asrial view of the stabler ar 3 Avondale Road. (Sonrce: NearMap.com, Angust 2076)

The former stables at no. 3 stand in the north-west corner of the double block, adjoining
Hampden Road. Their north wall forms part of the boundary with 17 Hampden Road. Like
the house, they have rendered brick walls, and face south, into the site, but are obliquely visible
from Hampden Road (see photo on page 1). A single sash window faces Hampden Road. The
stables has a two-storey central bay, with single-storey wings on the west and east sides. This
central wing 1s gable-fronted (facing south), with a parapet to the gable and corbelling beneath
the eaves. At the apex of the gable 15 a vermiculated block. The small side wings have hipped
roofs set behind parapets on the sides and rear. Some original sash and pivot windows appear
to survive, while the hayloft door has been replaced with French doors. Other minor changes
to openings, not visible from the street, mav also be present.

Comparative analysis

As discussed in the Stonnington Thematic Environmental History, section 8.2.2, the suburban
house on a garden allotment was an aspiration of many middle-class Victorians:

Davison (1978:145) describes the 1ietorian cudt of the home in the fresh air and franquillity of the
suburbs as a haven from the noise and dirt of the ciry - the ideal of rus in urbe (conntry in the city) which,
throngh Victoria’s prosperity and the gronth of the public transport system, became possibie for many
working pegple. For most suburbanites this home was a single-storey defached bowse surrounded by ifs own
garden. On a visit to Aunstralia in the 18805, Twapeny (1883:37) noted that this was the almost universal
preference of Australians. Diring the boon: of the 18805 many peaple found their ideal piece of rus in urbe
in the Malvern municipality. Here streets of Victorian vilias rapidiy besan fo replace market gardens,
especially in the vicinity of the raibway lines.

The detached house was the typical Victorian house form in the middle-ring suburbs, in areas
where the new tram and tramn ines facilitated travel and allowed lower density development. In
this spacious suburban environment, they could be set in large gardens with side setbacks
allowing for a return verandah on one or two sides. They were also built m inner suburban
areas for better-off residents, but were usually restricted in form with a front verandah only
and side walls near the boundaries.

The architectural expression of these small to medium sized houses ranges from quite simple
to those lushly embellished on par with much grander houses. In keeping with the dominant
style of the Victorian era, most of the small to medium detached houses in Stonnington are
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Italianate in style. The simplest ones have a symmetrical facade with the front door in the
centre. Many have added visual interest created by a projecting bay to one side of the facade,
and a cast-iron verandah to the other, creating the classic asymmetrical Italianate suburban
form.

The Italianate style had its origins in the landscape paintings of Nicholas Poussin and Claude
Lorrain over a century eatlier. These two French artists were enamoured with the landscapes
and architecture of rural Italy, depicting it as a vision of Arcadia. Their efforts mspired a
broader purswt of ‘the Picturesque’ in architecture.

Through the first half of the nineteenth century, the Italianate spread widely in Britain fuelled
by the works of architects such as John Nash and Chailes Barry and through designs promoted
in pattern books such as Charles Parker's Tilla Rustica (1832). In 1845, the style received Royal
endorsement when Prince Albert, working with architect Thomas Cubitt, designed ‘Osbourne’
on the Isle of Wight as a retreat for Queen Victona and the Royal fanuly. Osbourne with its
plain stuccoed expression and tall balustraded tower would become the model for many large
residences throughout the Empire including Government House in Melbourne.

The style, which emerged as the preferred expression for Melbourne's grandest mansions of
the mid-century, was quickly adapted to suit more modest suburban villas and terraces. As
Hubbard notes (in The Encyclopedia of Australian Arebitecture, 2012:357):

Flexcibility and adaptabilify were the secrefs fo the success of the Italianate style. It conld range from the
simplest of buildings fo the grandest. It was not a precise style and could accommodate different levels of
architectural sophistication. It conld be formally symmetrical or informally agymmetrical. Whife fowers were
standard, they might be reduced to just a porch. The style was easy to copy and could be nsed by specutative
builders buying stock items for decoration. Most importantly, the Italianate style used the vocabulary of
classical archifecture freely but sparvingly. generally with relatively plain expanses of wall and hipped roofs
with bracketed eaves.

The Italianate house is so common in the Melbourne area that this is the standard image
people hold of the ‘Victorian house’. Condensed to its key features, they would be a hipped
roof with an M-profile (i.e., having a central valley to the rear half, which allows a low
ridgeline), bracketed eaves, chimneys with a cornice at the top (a run cement-render moulding),
and a timber or iron-framed verandah with cast-iron ornament to all but the grandest houses.
Common extras included a faceted (canted) bay used to create an asymmetric composition (of
occastonally used symmetrically), and windows that had a round or segmental arched opening,
some of which were embellished with run cement-render mouldings or delicate hood moulds.

There were three general types of cladding for Italianate houses. The most modest were clad 1n
timber weatherboards or blocked boards emulating expensive ashlar. The two most common
types were finished 1 cement render or face brick. Rendered houses could obtam a high level
of mun and cast ornament at an affordable price, leading to some lughly embellished examples.
All, even the most modest, had ruled render with incised lines to emulate the more expensive
stone construction. Face brickwork was also common, usually dark brown Hawthorn bricks
with cream brick dressings (bichrome) from the late 1860s; and later in the century with red
brick accents as well (polychrome). Some architects and designer-builders created bold patterns
with the coloured bricks. As good building stone was not common i Victoria, very few houses
were built of stone. Early examples were of bluestone, such as the grand Bishopscourt’ in East
Melbourne.

The development of the former City of Prahran and the western part of the former City of
Malvern cowmncides with the emergence of the Italianate forms of expression in Victora,
Consequently, the City of Stonnington retains a disproportionate number of Melbourne's
better examples of the mode. A number of these, typically the grandest and most elaborate
mansions or those associated with Victoria's most notable famuilies, have been added to the
Victorian Hentage Register. These include: “Toorak House’, ‘Greenwich House’ and
Mandeville Hall’, in Toorak; ‘Stonmgton’ in Malvern; and Malvern House’ in Glen Iris.

Examples of Italianate houses that are of individual significance in Stonnington’s Herntage
Overlay (both 1 1ndividual HOs and HO precinets) can be divided mto a number of groups

10
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according to the number of dwellings (attached or detached), their size, ornament and level of
architectural sophistication.

Generally, the two villas at 3 & 5 Avondale Road, Armadale can be compared to other
Significant medium-sized Italianate houses in the municipality, of which there are a relatively
high number that adopt the asymmetrical Italianate plan form. Examples include more modest
houses set on typically narrow suburban allotments, including: 34 Northcote Road, Armadale
(in HO130), 59 Northcote Road, Armadale (in HO130), 103 Koovong Road, Armadale (in
HO130), 14 Donald Street, Prahran (in HO456), 22 Donald Street, Prahran (in HO456), 5
Fawkner Street, South Yarra (in HO131), 71 Tivoli Road, South Yarra (in HO149), 48 Davis
Avenue, South Yarra (in HO150), and 50 The Avenue, Windsor (in HO148).

In detailing they can also be compared to larger Sigmuficant examples built on more generous
allotments which allowed for a return verandah, often terminating at a second projecting bay
to the side elevation. Examples mclude: 5 Royal Crescent, Armadale (in HO130}, 11 Avondale
Road, Armadale (n HO123), 860 Malvern Road, Armadale (in HO130), 46 Northcote Road,
Armadale (in HO130), 34 Grandview Grove, Prahran (in HO135), 5 Wynnstay Road, Prahran
(11 HO135), ‘Otira’ at 56 The Avenue, Windsor (11 HO148), and 46 The Avenue, Windsor (in
HO148).

The two villas at 3 & 5 Avondale Road have the same massing and a simular scale to 59
Northeote Road, Armadale. This house, however, 1s built of timber, so lacks much of the
cement detail seen at the subject houses.

/‘s, i p . >

Figre 8. 59 Northeote Road, Armadale (Significant in HO130). (Source: wun. Realestare 1’ IEW)

Also of the same scale, and with the same rendered brick walls, 1s 71 Tivoli Road, South Yarra,
It has similar cement mouldmgs to the front window arches and acanthus-leaf adorned impost
blocks, as well as colonnettes to the window reveals. It also has a floral design impressed i the
front wall.
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Figure 9. 71 Tivoli Road, Sounth Yarra (Significant in HOT149). (Source: Abercrombies, 2013}

The villas at 3 & 5 Avondale Road can also be considered shightly smaller versions of their near
neighbour at 11 Avondale Road, Armadale. This house has a return verandah, bracketed by
two projecting canted bays, one on each street frontage. The cement decorative details are of a
simular quality and intactness

Figure 10. 11 Avondale Road, Armadale (Significant in HO123). (Source: Google Streetvien).

In conclusion, the villas at 3 & 5 Avondale Road compare well with medium-sized Italianate
villas that are Significant in the Stonmington Hemntage Overlav, and have a simular quality of
cement-render detailing to larger examples of this type as well.

In regard to the stables at 3 Avondale Road, Brvce Raworth Pty Ltd carnied out the Stabies and
Dairies in the City of Stannington Heritage Project, which comprised assessments of a small group of
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residential stables that did not yet have HO protection. The assessments included the following
contextual history and comparative analysis for Stonmngton’s stables (cited from 64 Rose
Street, Armadale stables citation, 2012, pp. 2 & 4):

In the ninefeenth and early hwentieth centuries, horses were essential for fransport of pegple and goods as well
as providing the borsepoier for mich other beavy work, Housebolds and businesses relied on the horse and
cart for deliveries of mille, mear and other necessities. The onnership of a borse drawn carriage was a
particularly good indication of a person’s wealth and status. Carriage honses and stables associated with the
large houses and mansions of the wealthy were offen elaborate masonyy structures, second ondy in
architectural impartance fo the main residence itself. Horses were valuable animals. and were generally well
cared for, and their stables were nsually well-constructed and maintained. Stables were generally of o
storeys. with the horse stalls on the gronnd floor and a bay loft above, with access via large openings in the
walls and with chutes conveying the feed fo the feed bins in the stalls below.

Although motorised vebicles began to replace horses in rhe early twentieth century. this nas a gradual ratber
than an abrupt rrarsition. Horses were used for waste collection and earth moving by some Council after
Worid WarII, and the borse drann milk cart persisted into the 1960s. ...

Structires associated with horse fransport were once extrentely common, buf are becoming increasingly rare in
metropolitan Melbourne. A municipal wide survey of stables that was undertaken as part of stage 1 of the
Stonnington Stables and Daivies in the City of Stonnington Heritage Project (Jobn Statham Urban
Conservation, 2011), and further refined during stage 2 investigations (Bryce Raworth Pty Ltd, May
2071). suggests that approxcimately 16 domestic stables survive in varying degrees of infaciness. Only a
small number of these are enrrently protected by a beritage overlay control. These were generally built on a
arand scale fo serve nineteenth centuyy mansion estates, and include stables at Mandevifle Hall (HOS0),
Stonington (HO40), Northbrook (HO59) and Avoca (within the Alexandra Avense precinct, HOT122),
Stables associated with the former Eilyer mansion are also protected by a heritage overlay (HO241). but
this building was substantially alfered when it was converted into a residence in the fwentieth century.

More modest stables associated with closer. middle and upper middle class subnrban developrient in the late-
nineteenth and eardy fwentieth century are not as well represented on the Stonnington beritage overlay
schedule. Such stables were fypically double-storey brick or timber buildings with the horse stalls on the
grownd floor and a bay loft above. Stylistically, relatively simple picturesque Gothick designs with gable rogfe
were favoured for stables. even though the associated bouse was rore offen thaw not built in an entively
different 1 ictorian Italianate style.

Examples of this fype of stable can be found at the rear of 14 Sorrett Avenue, Malvern, 1A Hawssburn
Road. South Yarra, 28 Northeote Road, Armadale and 64 Rose Streer, Armadale. The 14 Sorvett
Avenue stables stand out amaengst this group because they dispiay a higher standard of desigi and a
relatively bigh degree of integrity ...

The stables to the rear of 3 Avondale Road, Armadale were not assessed as part of Bryce
Raworth Pty Ltd’s work in 2011. The four stables considered likely to meet the threshold of
local significance m the municipality were the following:

* HO396 (house) Former stables rear 14 Sorrett Avenue, Malvern — a Victornian double-
storey bichrome brick stables building with a gabled slate roof and darker contrasting
Hawthorn brick quoins and arched lintels. The building was assessed to be substantially
mtact despite a modern addition obscuring part of the north elevation and the sympathetic
replacement of the window and door joinery (stables graded A2).

CONTEXT 13

Page 33



ITEM 5 ATTACHMENT 3 ATTACHMENT 3 - CITATION - 3 & 5 AVONDALE

Figure 11. Stables at 14 Sorrett Avenue, Maivern (HO396) (rource: National Trust, nd).

o HOI130 Armadale Precinct, Former stable rear 28 Northcote Road, Armadale — a simply
detailed double-storey timber-framed stables building with weatherboard walls and a gabled
cormgated ron roof. The building was assessed to be substantially intact externally despite
its poor condition (stables graded A2).

Figure 12. Timber stables at 28 Northeots Road, Armadaie (Significant in HO130) (ronrce: City of Stonnington).

o HOI130 Armadale Precinct, Former stable at 64 Rose Street, Armadale — a simple red brick
stables structure with a gabled corrugated iron roof which was built before ¢1909. The
building’s exterior form was assessed to be largely intact despite modern windows and
doors to the north elevation (stables graded A2).
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Figure 13. Brick stables at the rear of 64 Rose Street, Armadale (Significant in HO130) (sonrce: City of Stonnington)

o HO308 Former outbuilding rear 17 Dundonald Avenue, Malvern East - understood to
have contamned former stables, laundry and servants’ accommodation. Aenal photographs
show a lagge rectangular plan outbuilding with a corrugated 1ron gable roof and a brick
chimney (stables ungraded — further investigation required).

An additional example was identified and assessed as part of the larger Victorian Houses
Heritage Study {Context, 2016-17):

e HO529 Former coachhouse-stables at rear of Queen Anne villa at 878 High Street,
Armadale — a fine bichrome brick building of 1888 with a slate roof. It has a two-storey
central pavilion with havloft, flanked by two single-storey hipped-roof sections. The jomnery
has been replaced m-kind, but the building 1s otherwise intact,

Fiaire 14, Rear stabies complex at 878 High Street, Armadale {sonrce: Marshall White, 2013 ).
g if ‘8
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The stables at the rear of 3 Avondale Road can most closely be compared to the former stables
at 64 Rose Street, Armadale. Both were built in the early twentieth century, and they have a
similar form. Both are two-storey masonry structures with parapeted end gables, though 64
Rose Street has face brick walls, while 3 Avondale Road is rendered brick. The massing of the
stables at 3 Avondale Road 1s also very similar to that of 878 High Street. Like the other five
stables identified, the stables at 3 Avondale Road are a rare survivor in the municipality, and
make a major contribution to the heritage significance of the place.

Thematic context

This place illustrates the following themes, as identified in the Stonnington Thematic Environmental
Histery (Context Pty Ltd, rev. 2009):

3.3.3 Speculators and land boomers
4,32 Cbmig:}rg Modles qf I‘mmpm‘? — from horses to mofor vehicles

8.2 Middle-class suburbs and the suburban ideal

Assessment against criteria

Assessment of this place was carried out in relation to the HERCON model criteria as set out
m the VPP Practice Note ‘Applying the Hertage Overlay’ (2015)

Statement of significance

What is significant?

The pair of Italianate villas, “The Briars® at 3 Avondale Road and the house at 5 Avondale
Road, Armadale, both built in 1890. The two houses are single-storey dwellings with rendered
brick walls and an asymmetrical plan form featuring a canted projecting bay and cast-iron
verandal to the front facade of each.

Also the rendered brick stables at 3 Avondale Road, constructed m 1905, are significant.

The current front fences and rear extensions of both properties, as well as the garage of 3
Avondale Road, are not significant

How is it significant?
3 and 5 Avondale Road are of local architectural and aesthetic significance, while the stables at
3 Avondale Road are of local significance for their associations and ranty.

Why is it significant?

Architecturally, the two dwellings are fine and intact representative examples of Victorian
Italianate villa residences built for nuddle-class residents of Armadale, of the sort that began to
charactenise the suburb in the 1880s and 1890s. The two near-identical villas exhibit typical
features of thus type imncluding the asymmetrical plan form of a projecting canted bay to one
side of a cast-iron verandah, ruled render finish, hipped roof clad in slate and rendered
chimneys with decorative cornices. (Criterion D)

Aesthetically, the two dwellings retain a high level of ornamentation executed 1n cast and run
cement and other materials. Decorative elements of note include diaper patterning of the slate
roofing, cast wythes and brackets to the chimney cornices, dog-tooth mouldings to verandah
beams and to a window sill (sill of No. 3, only), vermiculated quoins and panels, scrolled
keystones to window arches, acanthus leaves to impost blocks, and twisted colonnettes to
window reveals (No. 3, only). (Cuterion E)

The stables to the rear of No. 3 Avondale Road is a very rare and intact example of a
nineteenth century stables complex in Stonnington. It 1s also of significance for its association
with its owner and builder, James Wright, who was a prominent Melbourne builder and
contractor. (Crteria B & H)
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Recommendations
Recommended for mclusion in the Heritage Overlay to the extent of the whole properties at 3

& 5 Avondale Road as defined by the title boundaries.

HO Schedule controls: Outbuilding controls — Stables at 3 Avondale Road

15
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Recommended grading: A2

Figure 15, Recommended exctent of Heritage Overday for 3 & 5 Avondale Road, Armadale, (Seurce:
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